# IN THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF FLORIDA

SUZANNE M. BOSCHEN, Defendant/Appellant,

Defendant/Appellant

VS.

Circuit Civil Case No. 99-3622-CI-20

CITY OF CLEARWATER, a municipal corporation and public body corporate and politic of the State of Florida,

Plaintiff/Appellee.

# ON APPEAL FROM THE SIXTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT PINELLAS COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

Hon. Charles W. Cope

\_\_\_\_\_

# AMENDED INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

PATRICK T. MAGUIRE, ESQ. Attorney for Appellant

308 N. Belcher Road Clearwater, FL 33765 Florida Bar No. 266371 (727) 442-3838

#

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT
STATEMENT OF THE CASE5
STATEMENT OF THE FACTS
ISSUE ON APPEAL
SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT10
ARGUMENT I
ARGUMENT II
CONCLUSION
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE
APPENDIX

## **TABLE OF CITATIONS**

CASE	<u>PAGE</u>
<b>Easterlin v. City of New Port Richey</b>	
105 So. 2nd 361 (Fla. 1958)	
City of Jacksonville v. Savannah Machine & Foundry Compan	<b>y</b> 13,17 47
So.2nd 634 (Fla. 1950)	
Leon County v. State	14 165
So. 666 (1936)	
Merrill v. St. Petersburg	
109 Sp. 315 (1926)	
Nuveen v. Quincy	
156 So. 153 (Fla. 1934)	
Posey v. Wakulla County	14. 3
So.2nd 799 (Fla. 1941)	
State of Florida v. Boca Raton	
172 So.2nd 230 (Fla 1965)	
State v. Broward County	
So.2nd 512 (Fla. 1951)	
State v. Florida State Improvement Commission	
So.2nd 747 (Fla. 1952)	
State of Florida v. Manatee	12,14.
93 So.2nd 381 (Fla. 1957)	
State v. Sarasota County	
549 So.2nd 659 (Fla. 1989)	
State v. City of St. Petersburg.	13,17
198 So. 837 (Fla. 1940)	

### **PRELIMINARY STATEMENT**

This is an appeal taken pursuant to Rule 9.030(a)(1)(B)(i) Rules of Appellate Procedure. This initial brief of Appellant is served with Appendix in accordance with Rule 9.110(i) Rules of Appellate Procedure. Reference to the appendix shall be in the following form (A-).

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

- 1. Appellee, City of Clearwater, filed its Complaint for Validation with the Clerk of the Circuit Court for Pinellas County, Florida, on May 25, 1999. (A-1)
- 2. The Complaint for Validation by the City of Clearwater joined the State of Florida and the Taxpayers, Property Owners and Citizens of the City of Clearwater, Florida, including non-residents owning property or subject to taxation therein, and Appellant Suzanne M. Boschen. (A-1)
- 3. The Trial Court issued its Order to Show Cause in the case below on May 25, 1999. (A-2).
  - 4. On June 14, Appellant served her Answer and Affirmative Defenses. (A-3)
- 5. On August 25, 1999, Appellee served its Trial Memorandum on Appellant.
  (A-4)
- 6. On September 3, 1999, Defendant State of Florida filed its Response to Order to Show Cause. (A-5)
- 7. On September 7, 1999, Appellant Suzanne M. Boschen, served her Memorandum of Law. (A-6)
- 8. On September 7, 1999, an Order to Show Cause hearing was held before the Honorable Charles W. Cope. On September 10, 1999, the Honorable Charles W.

Cope entered a Final Judgment in this cause. (A-7)

9. On October 8, 1999, Appellant filed her Notice of Appeal in this cause. (A-

8)

#### **STATEMENT OF THE FACTS**

- 1. Appellee, on May 6, 1999, adopted Resolution No. 99-28 (the project resolution) providing for the sale of not to exceed \$12,000,000.00 infrastructure sales tax revenue bonds, approving the Series 1999 project and authorizing the public sale of the bonds. (A-1, Ex.C)
  - 2. The Charter of the City of Clearwater provides:
  - "ARTICLE IX. FISCAL MANAGEMENT PROCEDURE.
  - "The fiscal management procedure shall include provisions relating to the operating budget, capital budget and capital program, providing for hearings on the budget, capital budget and capital program and the amendment of the budget following a adoption. Such ordinance shall in addition contain a provision requiring that revenue bonds for projects in excess of one million dollars Shall be put to public referendum with the exception of revenue bonds for public health, safety or industrial development and revenue bonds for refunding." (A-9, Appellee's Trial Exhibit C)
- 3. Appellee failed to hold a public referendum for the issuance of the revenue bonds for the series 1999 Project.
- 4. Appellee attempted to have Article IX of the City Charter repealed in order to remove the referendum requirement by ballot initiative submitted to the voters of the City of Clearwater on March 9, 1999, as Referendum Question No. XIII. (A-10)
- 5. On March 9, 1999, the citizens of Clearwater rejected the Appellee's proposed repeal of Article IX of the City Charter by a vote of 9,020 to 4,636. (A-10)
  - 6. The primary purpose of the project is economic redevelopment of the beach,

not maximizing traffic flow. (A-11)

- 7. The project has twin principles: A. The place to have a quality experience, and B. A sense of arrival at the beach. (A-11)
- 8. The point of arrival would be a large pond with fountain structure in the middle of the Roundabout. (A-12, pg. 1)
- 9. The City of Clearwater Beach traffic study dated October 1998 provides as follows:
- A. The transportation improvements considered were developed primarily to support and enhance the economic redevelopment potential for the beach area. (A-12, pg. 3)
- B. Development of a Roundabout, replacing the signalized intersection of Mandalay and Pier 60/Causeway, represents a sub-option which could be incorporated as part of the Gateway plans for the beach area. From an overall operation perspective, traffic conditions would be equivalent to traditional signalized control. (A-12, pg. 65)
- C. The results of the level of service analysis indicates there are currently no major operational deficiencies on the roadway system. (A-12, pg 11)
- D. The analysis of existing conditions indicates from an operational perspective, traffic in the study area is accommodated at acceptable levels of service.

Therefore, the transportation improvements investigated were primarily designed to support and enhance economic redevelopment and create a better street environment for pedestrians while maintaining the existing levels of service. (A-12, pg. 11)

E. In general, the uninterrupted flow characteristic of a Roundabout is less "pedestrian friendly" than a typical traffic signal. Consolidation of the Pier 60 Drive/Causeway Boulevard one way pair to a two way (four lane) facility is incorporated as part of the beach alternative. While acceptable levels of service are expected to be maintained, the proposed two way plan will not be as efficient as the current one way system. (A-12, pg. 65)

- 10. Future levels of service for the next twenty years do not warrant or justify the road improvements proposed for the project. (A-13)
- 11. Of the actual construction cost associated with the project of \$7.2 million dollars, over half is allocated to the construction of a fountain (\$2,100,000) and landscaping (approximately \$1,700,000). Only about \$2,100,000 would be for non-essential road work. (A-14

#### **ISSUE ON APPEAL**

Where the City Charter requires a public referendum for all revenue bond projects in excess of \$1,000,000, except for those for public health and safety, did the Trial Court err in finding that the City has authority to issue revenue bonds without public referendum approval where the project consists primarily of the construction of a fountain, landscaping and non-essential road work?

#### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

The project for which the City of Clearwater seeks to issue revenue bonds does not fall within the public health and safety exception from the referendum requirement set forth in Article IX of the City of Clearwater's Charter. It is Appellant's position that the public health and safety exception to the Charter requirement of a referendum applies only to essential government functions. That a project primarily consisting of a fountain and landscaping and non-essential road work which is intended to provide a quality experience, a sense of arrival at the beach, and support economic redevelopment of the beach without maximizing traffic flow is not an essential governmental function. As a matter of law, the proposed project does not fall within the exception to the referendum requirements of the City of Clearwater' Charter.

There was no competent evidence to support the Trial Court's finding that the project constitutes an essential government function.

#### **ISSUE**

WHERE THE CITY CHARTER REQUIRES A PUBLIC REFERENDUM FOR ALL REVENUE BOND PROJECTS IN EXCESS OF \$1,000,000, EXCEPT FOR THOSE FOR PUBLIC HEALTH AND SAFETY, DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN FINDING THAT THE CITY HAS AUTHORITY

TO ISSUE REVENUE BONDS WITHOUT PUBLIC REFERENDUM WHERE THE PROJECT CONSISTS PRIMARILY OF THE CONSTRUCTION OF A FOUNTAIN, LANDSCAPING AND NON-ESSENTIAL ROAD WORK?

#### **ARGUMENT I**

AS A MATTER OF LAW, A PROJECT CONSISTING PRIMARILY OF A FOUNTAIN AND LANDSCAPING AND NONESSENTIAL ROAD WORK DOES NOT FALL WITHIN THE PUBLIC HEALTH AND SAFETY EXCEPTION OF ARTICLE IX OF THE CITY OF CLEARWATER'S CHARTER.

The Charter of the City of Clearwater contains the following provision:

"The fiscal management procedure shall include provisions relating the operating budget, capital program, providing for hearings on the budget, capital budget and capital program and the amendment of the budget following adoption. Such ordinance shall, in addition, contain a provision requiring that revenue bonds for projects in excess of \$1,000,000.00 Shall be put to public referendum with exception of revenue bonds for public health, safety or industrial development and revenue bonds for refunding." Article IX, City of Clearwater, City Charter.

Municipalities do not have inherent authority to incur bonded indebtedness.

Merrill vs.St. Petersburg, 109 So. 315 (1926). They have only such authority as the legislature expressly or by necessary implication confers on them. Nuveen vs.

Quincy, 156 So. 153 (Fla. 1934). All doubts as to existence of such power being resolved against the municipality and in favor of the taxpayer and voter. State of Florida vs. Boca Raton, 172 So.2nd 230 (Fla. 1965).

The limitation contained in Article IX of the City's Charter is a limitation on

the City's authority to issue these bonds. <u>State of Florida vs. Boca Raton</u>, supra. <u>Easterlin vs. City of New Port Richey</u>, 105 So.2nd 361 (Fla. 1958). Article IX requires that revenue bonds for projects in excess of \$1,000,000.00 be approved by referendum of the voters. That language applies to all municipal projects.

Article IX provides an exception to the referendum requirement for projects for "public health and safety". Since all bonds for "municipal projects in excess of \$1,000,000.00" need to be approved by referendum, the exception for health and safety contemplates a more limited and narrower scope of project. Otherwise, the requirement of a referendum would become nothing more than an obsolete password. State of Florida vs. Manatee, 93 So.2nd 381 (Fla. 1957).

"Public health and safety" within the meaning of Article IX of the City of Clearwater's Charter must be interpreted as creating an exception only for such health and safety projects as are <u>essential government purposes</u>. (Emphasis supplied) <u>State of Florida vs. Manatee</u>, supra. <u>State vs. Florida State Improvement Commission</u>, 60 so.2d 747 (Fla. 1952).

The City is proposing to issue revenue bonds to construct a fountain, do extensive landscaping and do non-essential road work. The primary purpose of the project is to (provide):

A. "A place to have a quality experience". (A-11) and,

- B. "A sense of arrival at the beach. (A-11) and,
- C. "... Economic redevelopment of the beach, not maximizing traffic flow".

  (A-11)

While these may be worthwhile municipal purposes, they are clearly not an essential government function within the contemplation of the exception to Article IX of the City's Charter.

Even the cases cited by the Appellee in its Trial Memorandum, City of

Jacksonville vs. Savannah Machine & Foundry Company, 47 So.2d 634 (Fla. 1950),
and State vs. City of St. Petersburg, 198 So. 837 (Fla. 1940), establish that to justify
the issuance of the bonds for health and safety, they must be for "essential
governmental functions" (emphasis added). In those cases, the City provided fire
protection services and provided water services to the citizens. Obviously, providing
water, fire, and police protection are of such a general essential nature of government
that they are essential to the public health and safety.

However, mere municipal or governmental purposes which are not essential, such as fountains, landscaping and nonessential road work, are not of such an essential or imperative nature as to bring them within the exception for public health and safety. The test is the essentiality of project, i.e., "...would City government cease to exist if the improvement is not provided". State vs. Manatee, supra. Doubt concerning the

requirement of an election as a condition precedent to official action in issuing any bonds should be resolved in favor of allowing the people to decide it. Statutes imposing taxes should be construed most strongly against government and most liberally in favor of taxpayers. <u>State vs. City of Boca Raton</u>, supra.

There is an analogous exception to the Constitutional requirement of electoral approval for political subdivision to issue a bond to finance essential governmental needs. Leon County vs. State, 165 So. 666 (1936). Posey vs. Wakulla County, 3 So.2d 799 (Fla. 1941). The situation before this Court is analogous to the Constitutional requirement for electorate approval. The City Charter of the City of Clearwater is the constitution by which authority the City of Clearwater operates. There is a Charter limitation requiring referendum approval of bonds for projects in excess of \$1,000,000.00. There is an exception to that requirement for projects for health and safety. As in the Constitutional cases, the exception to the requirement for referendum is only for those projects which constitute "essential governmental necessities". State vs. Broward County, 54 So. 2d 512 (Fla. 1951).

Essential governmental functions have been found to be the construction, furnishing, and repair of Courthouses, governmental office buildings, jails, children's homes, and health centers and construction of incinerators, and the construction and

safe operation of airports (Miami International Airport), and the need to meet current governmental expenses. Courts have refused to extend this doctrine to County Hospitals, since unlike a Courthouse, the need for such building may be supplied by private enterprise. Voting machines are not essential governmental necessities. <a href="State">State</a> <a href="State">vs. Broward County</a>, supra.

While the City and citizens may benefit from the project because of an enhanced pedestrian environment or improved air quality, those objectives were not and are not the primary purpose of the project. The City having established that the primary purpose of the project is for beautification and to help support economic development of Clearwater Beach, the mere fact that there is some ancillary pedestrian sidewalk improvement and air quality improvement does not cause the project to fall within the public health and safety exception.

While the City Commission may have found that the project is in "furtherance" of the public health and safety, that finding is in of itself not sufficient. To be exempted from the referendum requirement of Article IX, it would be necessary for the City to find, and that finding be supported by competent substantial evidence, that the project is essential to the public health and safety of the citizens of the City of Clearwater.

### **ARGUMENT II**

APPELLEE FAILED TO ESTABLISH BY COMPETENT SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE THAT THE PROJECT FOR WHICH REVENUE BONDS ARE SOUGHT TO BE ISSUED CONSTITUTED AN ESSENTIAL GOVERNMENTAL FUNCTION.

Appellee failed to present any competent substantial evidence that road conditions or economic conditions on Clearwater Beach warranted the issuance of revenue bonds without public referendum. (Transcript in to to; transcript unavailable at time of service, will be provided as Supplemental Appendix.)

Appellee, in the Trial Court below, presented evidence describing the project and giving general justification for the project. However, the evidence below fails to establish that there was an essential governmental imperative for the project. (See <a href="City of Jacksonville vs. Savannah Machine & Foundry Company">City of Jacksonville vs. Savannah Machine & Foundry Company</a>, supra, and <a href="State vs. City of St. Petersburg">State vs. City of St. Petersburg</a>, supra.) There was no competent substantial evidence presented before the Trial Court that the road system and pedestrian environment was in such dire need of the project so as to warrant the City avoiding the referendum requirement of Article IX of the City's Charter. On the contrary, the City's own traffic study established:

A. The transportation improvements considered were developed primarily to support and enhance the economic redevelopment potential for the beach area. (A-12, pg. 3)

B. Development of a Roundabout, replacing the signalized intersection of Mandalay and Pier 60/Causeway, represents a sub-option which could be incorporated as part of the Gateway plans for the beach area. From an overall operation

perspective, traffic conditions would be equivalent to traditional signalized control. (A-12, pg.65)

C. The results of the level of service analysis indicates there are currently no major operation deficiencies on the roadway system. (A-12, pg. 11)

D. The analysis of existing conditions indicates from an operational perspective, traffic in the study area is accommodated at acceptable levels of service. Therefore, the transportation improvements investigated were primarily designed to support and enhance economic redevelopment and create a better street environment for pedestrians while maintaining the existing levels of service. (A-12, pg.11)

E. In General, the uninterrupted flow characteristic of a Roundabout is less "pedestrian friendly" than a typical traffic signal. Consolidation of the Pier 60 Drive/Causeway Boulevard one way pair to a two way (four lane) facility is incorporated as part of the beach alternative. While acceptable levels of service are expected to be maintained, the proposed two way plan will not be as efficient as the current one way system. (A-12, pg.65)

Also, future levels of service for the next twenty years would not warrant or justify the road improvements proposed for the project. (A-13)

Likewise, Appellee failed to present any competent substantial evidence that the economic vitality of Clearwater Beach was in such dire condition that the City's

need for the project caused such a governmental imperative as to warrant the City ignoring the referendum requirement of Article IX of the City's Charter. While it is clear that the City wishes to support and enhance the economic environment of Clearwater Beach, that is clearly not an essential governmental function, warranting the avoidance of the referendum requirement of Article IX of the City of Clearwater's Charter.

In the Trial Court below, the Appellee has the burden of proof to establish it had authority to issue the bonds. State of Florida v. Sarasota County, 549 So.2nd 659 (Fla. 1989). That burden of proof would necessarily require a showing by competent substantial evidence to bring Appellee within the public health and safety exception of Article IX of the City of Clearwater's Charter. While the City's resolution may have stated that such a project is in furtherance of the public health and safety, there was no competent substantial evidence to support a finding that the proposed project for a fountain, landscaping and nonessential road work constituted an essential governmental function. (T. - in to to) In fact, the evidence presented below established that the existing road system was functioning adequately, and the proposed road system may not be as efficient. (A-12)

Additionally, if the proposed project is intended to support economic redevelopment at Clearwater Beach, there was no competent substantial evidence

presented that there was or is a need for such support or that the proposed project would necessarily contribute to that economic redevelopment. (T. - in <u>to to</u>)

## **CONCLUSION**

In the absence of a showing that the proposed project of the City of Clearwater constitutes an essential governmental necessity, the requested bond validation should have been denied since there was no referendum approval of the citizens of the City

of Clearwater.