IN THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF FLORIDA

SUZANNE M. BOSCHEN, Appellant,

VS.

CASE NO. 96,874 Circuit Civil Case No. 99-3622-CI-20

CITY OF CLEARWATER, a municipal corporation and public body corporate and politic of the State of Florida,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SIXTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT PINELLAS COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The City will reply to the two basic arguments made by the Appellant in her appeal. The Appellant's first argument is that this Court should read into the City's Charter, which provides for an exception from a referendum requirement for revenue bonds for public health and safety projects, the judicially-created exception for "essential government functions." This is an exception that is derived from the 1885 Florida Constitutional prohibition of issuing any bonds without prior referendum approval. As part of this argument, Appellant urges this Court to equate "public health and safety" in the City's Charter with superceded case law creating an "essential governmental functions" exception to the 1885 Florida Constitutional ban on bond issuance without voter approval.

Appellant's argument fails to understand the purpose for such exception and relies on incorrect historical interpretations and outdated cases to support its contentions. The City will show that the historical interpretations given to the City's Charter that bonds for

projects in excess of \$1,000,000 must either be approved in a referendum, or be determined by the City Commission in the exercise of its legislative function to be in furtherance of "public health, safety, industrial development or refunding" in numerous prior bond validations is the correct interpretation (A-Supp-7). Further, the imposition of an additional test as requested by the Appellant is not justified either by the language of the City Charter, the issues before the citizens of Clearwater at the time the Charter was adopted, or relevant judicial authority.

The City will also show that the second argument raised by the Appellant -- that the project to be financed by the City with the proceeds of the bonds is not in furtherance of public health or safety -- is also not supported by record evidence or case law. Through this argument, the Appellant is challenging various components of the project rather than the City's authority to issue its bonds. In response to this argument, the City will demonstrate that the testimony and documentary evidence introduced by the City in the course of the bond validation hearing reflects a broad scope of information delivered to the City Commission over a several month period regarding the road project to be financed, including the health and safety implications of the conversion of three highly congested and dangerous intersections into a roundabout. This information provided a foundation which was more than sufficient for the City Commission to base its legislative determinations that the Roadway Project was in furtherance of the public health and safety of its citizens and residents.

REPLY TO APPELLANT'S ARGUMENT I

THE CITY'S ROAD PROJECT IS WITHIN THE PUBLIC HEALTH AND SAFETY EXCEPTION OF ARTICLE IX OF THE CITY OF CLEARWATER'S CHARTER AND THUS THE BONDS WERE PROPERLY AUTHORIZED BY THE CITY.

Appellant challenges the issuance of the Bonds based on the City's alleged failure to comply with its own Charter because particular portions of the road project do not constitute "essential government purposes", which the Appellant contends must be read into the definition of "public health and safety" under the City's Charter. This argument misconstrues the City's Charter and attempts to apply case law superceded by the Constitutional revisions of 1968.

Article IX of the Charter of the City of Clearwater provides (emphasis supplied):

The fiscal management procedures shall include provisions relating to the operating budget, capital program, providing for hearings on the budget, capital budget and capital program and the amendment of the budget following adoption. Such ordinance shall in addition contain a provision requiring that revenue bonds for projects in excess of one million dollars shall be put to public referendum with the exception of revenue bonds for public health, safety or industrial development and revenue bonds for refunding.

Historical Review of the "Essential Government Function" Doctrine

The Appellant offers an interpretation of Article IX of the City Charter based on case law arising out of the 1885 Florida Constitution rather than the present Florida Constitution adopted in 1968. Initially, the Appellant asserts at page 11 of her brief that

municipalities do not have inherent authority to incur bonded indebtedness, and that they have only such authority as the legislature expressly or impliedly confers on them, and in support thereof, cites to *Merrill vs. St. Petersburg*, 109 So. 315 (Fla. 1926) and *Nuveen vs. Quincy*, 156 So. 153 (Fla. 1934). Indeed this was the case under the 1885 Florida Constitution.

The 1885 Florida Constitution, Article IX, Section 6, provided in part as follows:

... the Counties, Districts or Municipalities of the State of Florida shall have power to issue bonds only after the same shall have been approved by a majority of the votes cast in an election in which a majority of the freeholders who are qualified electors residing in such Counties, Districts, or Municipalities shall participate, to be held in the manner to be prescribed by law...

Article IX, Section 6, Fla. Const. (1885).

Clearly, under this prior Constitutional prohibition, units of local government could not incur any form of bonded indebtedness without prior referendum approval by the affected citizens. This Court became concerned about certain aspects of this Constitutional prohibition of incurring bonded debt following the boom-bust period of the 1920's and the early years of the Great Depression, and began a line of judicial authority which created the "essential government purpose" exception for counties to this constitutional prohibition. This Court reasoned that certain aspects of a county government, consisting of jails and courthouses, were so completely essential to the very existence of county governments that the provisions of Section 6, Article IX of the 1885 Florida Constitution, as enacted by the citizens of Florida could not have been meant to

hinder a county's financing of its jails and courthouses. *State v. County of Manatee*, 93 So.2d 381 (Fla. 1957); *see also State v. Florida State Improvement Commission*, 60 So.2d 747 (Fla. 1952); *State v. Broward County*, 54 So.2d 512 (Fla. 1951). Each county must be granted the necessary powers to carry out its basic governmental functions irrespective of any provision of the Florida Constitution. As a result, a county in Florida could issue bonds to finance a county jail and county courthouse without receiving the prior approval of the citizens in a referendum.

The "essential government purpose" exception was rendered obsolete with the enactment of Article VII, Section 12, of the 1968 Florida Constitution, where the only constitutional prohibition against the incurring of bonded indebtedness is restricted to bonds bearing the full faith and credit of the governmental issuer which are directly supported by the levy of ad-valorem taxes. Such bonds secured by the levy of ad-valorem taxes still must be approved by prior referendum. After the 1968 Constitutional revisions, this Court has ruled that the "essential government purpose" doctrine is no longer applicable and was rendered invalid with the adoption of the 1968 Constitutional revisions. *State v. County of Dade*, 234 So.2d 651 (Fla. 1970). When requested by the School Board of Sarasota County, in an appeal of a bond validation proceeding, this Court reiterated that the doctrine was no longer valid and refused to reinstate it. *State v. School Board of Sarasota County*, 561 So.2d 549 (Fla. 1990).

Municipal Borrowing under the 1885 Florida Constitution

In regard to municipalities, this Court historically took a slightly different approach prior to the 1968 Constitutional revisions. Since municipalities were a creature of the legislation which created them, usually by special acts, a municipality would be authorized to carry out its "municipal purposes." These purposes were determined either by the special act which created a particular municipality, or by an ordinance enacted by a municipality in furtherance of any delegated powers in its special act. For example, this Court determined that since the special act applicable to the City of Pensacola authorized them to construct a municipal auditorium, wharves, docks and piers, that the construction and financing of such a project was a valid "municipal purpose". As a valid municipal purpose, the City of Pensacola was authorized to issue bonds to finance these projects either secured by a levy of ad-valorem taxes following approval by a public referendum, or payable from non ad-valorem tax revenues of the City of Pensacola without prior referendum approval. State v. City of Pensacola, 43 So.2d 340 (Fla. 1949). In State v. City of Pompano Beach, 47 So.2d 515 (Fla. 1950), this Court determined that the construction and financing of a new city hall was a valid "municipal purpose" within the special act chartering the City of Pompano Beach, and that such project could be financed with the issuance of bonds payable solely from power and light company franchise revenues could be issued without prior referendum approval. Similarly, in *State v. City* of Miami, 76 So.2d 294 (Fla. 1954), this court determined that since the special act charter for the City of Miami authorized the city to undertake public improvements,

including markets, that it was a valid "municipal purpose" of the city to construct a trade mart to be owned and operated by the city. Since this project was a valid "municipal purpose", the City of Miami was then authorized to issue bonds to finance the project without prior referendum approval since the bonds were to be paid solely from the proceeds of a utility tax imposed on utilities within the city and thus not impose a general obligation on the taxpayers of the city.

The common thread in each of these cases, as well as similar cases of the time, is a legislative finding, either by the Florida Legislature as part of the municipality's special act or by an ordinance or resolution adopted by the municipality in furtherance of its special act charter, that a particular project constituted a valid "municipal purpose". None of these legislative determinations were subsequently questioned by this Court in any of these rulings, and were accepted as law applicable to each particular municipality. Thus, by 1949, once a legislative determination was made that a particular project was a "municipal purpose" for a particular municipality, that municipality was free to incur debt to finance that project without prior referendum approval so long as the bonds were not payable from the ad-valorem tax revenues of the municipality.

Effect of the 1968 Constitutional Revisions on Municipal Borrowing

With the adoption of the revised Florida Constitution in 1968, municipalities were granted extremely broad home rule powers pursuant to Article VIII, Section 2, Florida Constitution (1968), where the only constitutional limitation placed on a municipality's

authority to conduct municipal government, perform municipal functions and render municipal services, is that such power be exercised for valid "municipal purposes". Municipalities are no longer dependent upon the Legislature for further authorization. State v. City of Sunrise, 354 So.2d 1206 (Fla. 1978). In the first decision by this Court following the adoption of the 1968 Constitution, this Court held that the City of Miami Beach did not possess the power to enact a rent-control ordinance. City of Miami Beach v. Fleetwood Hotel, Inc., 261 So.2d 801 (Fla. 1972). In response to the City of Miami Beach decision, the Legislature enacted in 1973 the Municipal Home Rule Powers Act, now codified as Chapter 166, Florida Statutes. In a subsequent case, this Court then upheld the power of the City of Miami Beach to enact a rent-control ordinance on the premise that Section 166.021(1) now authorized municipalities to exercise any power for municipal purposes except where expressly prohibited by law. City of Miami Beach v. Forte Towers, Inc., 305 So.2d 764 (Fla. 1974). In State v. City of Sunrise, supra, this Court acknowledged the vast breadth of municipal home rule powers when it said:

Article VIII, Section 2, Florida Constitution, expressly grants to every municipality in this state authority to conduct municipal government, perform municipal functions and render municipal services. The only limitation on that power is that it must be exercised for a valid "municipal purpose." It would follow that municipalities are not dependent upon the Legislature for further authorization. Legislative statutes are relevant only to determine limitations of authority.

State v. City of Sunrise, 354 So.2d at 1209.

Adoption and Interpretation of City Charter

By 1978, the legal framework within which municipalities, such as the City of Clearwater, operated was fundamentally different from the legal framework that existed prior to the adoption in 1968 of the revised Florida Constitution. As observed by this Court in State v. City of Sunrise, supra, municipalities had evolved from highly restricted and regulated entities, essentially being nothing more than creatures of special acts of the Legislature, to fully mature governmental units with the ability and authority to exercise broad home rule powers. The only restrictions on a municipality's incurring bonded indebtedness by this time was the Florida Constitutional requirement for a public referendum to approve bonds payable from ad-valorem taxes, any local charter restrictions enacted subsequent to the enactment of Chapter 166, Florida Statutes and the implicit Constitutional requirement that the incurrence of debt must be in furtherance of a valid municipal purpose. For example, this Court in State v. City of Orlando, 576 So.2d 1315 (Fla. 1991), held that borrowing for the sole purpose of reinvestment to earn a profit without the concurrent capital projects to be financed with such profits being identified, was not a valid municipal purpose. It was in this setting that the citizens of the City of Clearwater sought to impose some restrictions on the City's ability to issue bonds with the adoption of the Charter under which the Bonds which are the subject of this Appeal were authorized.

By 1978, the concept of an "essential government purpose" exception to the public referendum requirement, although widely recognized, had been rendered obsolete in light

of the 1968 Florida Constitution revisions. *See State v. County of Dade, supra*. At the time the Charter was adopted on December 12, 1978, it was the undisputed state of the law that the City of Clearwater had virtually unlimited authority to issue bonds without public referendum so long as the City did not pledge its ad-valorem tax powers to secure the bonds and was issuing debt in furtherance of a valid municipal purpose.

The exception to the referendum requirement for bond issuance in the City's Charter is a matter of first impression for this Court. In interpreting Article IX of the Charter, it should be read in conjunction with Article I, Section 1.01 of the Charter, which states:

Section 1.01. Corporate existence and powers.

- (a) General Powers. The City of Clearwater, Florida, (the "city"), as created by Chapter 9710, Special Laws of Florida, 1923, as amended, shall exist and continue as a municipal corporation, shall have all governmental, corporate and proprietary powers to enable it to conduct municipal government, perform municipal functions and render municipal services, and may exercise any power for municipal purposes except when expressly prohibited by law. In addition to the powers enumerated herein, the city shall be vested with all powers granted by general or special acts of the Legislature of the State of Florida and otherwise provided by law.
- (b) Exercise of Powers. The city may exercise any of its powers or perform any of its functions and may participate in the financing thereof, by contract or otherwise, jointly or in cooperation with any one or more states or political subdivisions or agencies thereof, or the United States or any agency thereof, or with any person as defined by law.
- (c) Construction. The powers of the city under this charter shall be construed liberally in favor of the city. The city is empowered to do whatever is necessary and proper for the safety, health, convenience and

general welfare of its inhabitants. The specific mention of a particular power in this charter shall not be construed as limiting the general power stated in this section of Article I.

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